**COPY**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**CORA ANN TURNER**

**APPELLANT**

**V.**

**NO. 2007-KA-1539-SCT**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**



**APPELLEE**

---

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

---

**NO ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

**MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS**

**Erin E. Pridgen, MS Bar No. [REDACTED]**

**301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210**

**Jackson, Mississippi 39201**

**Telephone: 601-576-4200**

**Counsel for Cora Ann Turner**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**CORA ANN TURNER**

**APPELLANT**

**V.**

**NO. 2007-KA-1539-SCT**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE COCAINE WAS ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE AS THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PROPER CHAIN OF CUSTODY.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi, where Cora Ann Turner was convicted of the sale of cocaine. The Honorable Frank G. Vollar, Circuit Court Judge, presided over the jury trial that began on July 16, 2007. Following the trial, Turner was sentenced to serve thirty years under the supervision of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Turner is currently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

## FACTS

On September 15, 2005, Detective Mike Traxler of the Warren County Sheriff's Department met with confidential informant, Joseph Anthony "Tony" Kirkley, to conduct controlled drug buys in the southern portion of Warren County, Mississippi. [T. 146, 148, 246] Kirkley, a recovering drug addict, contacted Traxler about participating in the drug buys. [T. 148] Kirkley had only been clean of drugs for a month and a half prior to starting the undercover drug operations. [T. 268]

Detective Traxler testified that on September 15<sup>th</sup>, he met with Kirkley at a pre-buy meeting location to discuss the plan for Kirkley to make drug purchases at two different locations. [T. 148] Kirkley was instructed to attempt to purchase drugs from Joe Joe Turner, Will Callahan, or Cora Turner [T. 151] Kirkley was told to visit the home of Ruby Callahan and Joe Joe Turner on Halls Ferry Road in Warren County, as well as the trailer of Cora Turner on Buchan Drive, in order to contact the individuals. [T.148].

During this pre-buy meeting with Kirkley, Detective Traxler testified that he equipped Kirkley with an audio-visual/ digital recording system that allowed Kirkley to record the transactions

through a button-hole camera [T. 148-149] Detective Traxler was not able to listen to the audio or view the video feed as the recording took place [T.150]. At trial, Traxler acknowledged that, during the alleged transactions, Kirkley was unsupervised, unmonitored and alone [T.150, 179, 199] Furthermore, Detective Traxler testified that there were no established policies or procedures that the sheriff's department used to conduct the controlled drug buys with the confidential informants. [T. 199]

Detective Traxler testified that, during the pre-buy meeting with Kirkley, he searched Kirkley and Kirkley's automobile for the presence of narcotics but he found none. [R. E. 20] Later during the trial, however, Detective Traxler admitted that he did not check Kirkley's Marlboro cigarette box, the same cigarette box Kirkley used to deliver the cocaine evidence to Detective Traxler following the drug buy.[ T. 201]

After leaving Detective Traxler, Kirkley testified that he went to the Callahan/ Turner residence, looking to purchase drugs from Will Callahan. [T. 252] Later, he decided to go to Cora Turner's home. [T. 255] Kirkley testified that at Cora Turner's house, he purchased \$50 worth of cocaine.[T. 256] On the video surveillance, however, there is no mention of any drugs when Kirkley meets with Cora. [T. 181] Likewise, when Kirkley returns to his car, he testified that he placed the substance he received from Cora into a Marlboro cigarette box but he was not sure whether he placed the box inside or in front of his car console. [T. 264]

According to Kirkley, he then returned to Ruby Callahan and Joe Joe Turner's house and "hung around for a while". [T. 269, 273]. After leaving the Callahan/ Turner residence a second time, Kirkley said he then went back to meet with Detective Traxler to hand him the substance that was in the Marlboro cigarette box. [T. 270] Detective Traxler took custody of the substance and the Mississippi Crime Lab determined that the substance was 0.3 grams of cocaine. [T. 274, R. E. 17,

**SUMMARY OF THE CASE**

The trial court committed reversible error in finding that the drug evidence was admissible because the State failed to establish a proper chain of custody over the cocaine. Although the Mississippi Crime Lab report showed that the substance tested was cocaine, there was not a sufficient chain of custody established to prove that Cora Turner was the source of the cocaine.

First, the Warren County Sheriff's Department did not fully check the confidential informant for the presence of narcotics prior to the informant going to Cora Turner's residence to make a drug purchase.

Second, while the confidential informant testified that he bought cocaine from Turner, he did not immediately return the substance to the sheriff's department following the purchase. The informant, instead, went to "hang out" at the home of a known drug dealer, waiting for the opportunity to purchase drugs. At trial, the video recording played for the jury cuts off after the informant returns to the home of the drug dealer and there is no recording of the informant returning the substance to the sheriff's department.

Finally, during the alleged drug transactions, the confidential informant was not monitored or supervised by the sheriff's department. The informant was a recovering drug addict and, at the very least, the sheriff's department should have monitored the transactions through audio or visual feed as the transaction occurred. All of these instances create a reasonable inference that the evidence was either tampered with or substituted and the State did not sufficiently establish the chain of custody.

## ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE COCAINE WAS ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE AS THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PROPER CHAIN OF CUSTODY.

The cocaine and the lab report from the Mississippi Crime Lab should not have been admitted into evidence as the State failed to establish a proper chain of custody over the substance. The issue in this appeal is not whether the evidence that the Mississippi Crime Lab tested was a controlled substance or not. The Crime Lab reported that the substance that was submitted by Detective Traxler on September 16, 2005, contained cocaine in the amount of 0.3 grams. [R.E. , T]. The Court erred in admitting the cocaine into evidence, over the objection of defense counsel, as the State failed to prove that the cocaine that was tested by the Mississippi Crime Lab was the same drug purchased from Turner. Without this proof, the introduction on the lab report was highly prejudicial and should have been excluded.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 901(a) requires sufficient evidence to “support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” MRE 901(a). In applying Rule 901 (a), the Court has announced that the ‘test for the continuous possession [i.e. “chain of custody”] of evidence is whether or not there is any indication or reasonable inference of probable tampering with the evidence or substitution of the evidence.” *Anderson v. State*, 904 So. 2d at 973, 979 (¶19) (Miss. 2004) (citing *Thomas v. State*, 828 So. 2d 1270, 1272 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)). The trial court exercises sound discretion in issues involving the chain of custody of evidence. *Chambers v. State*, 878 So. 2d at 153, 158 (¶ 23) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). This Court should reverse the trial court’s ruling when the trial court’s decision amounts to an abuse of discretion that has so prejudiced the defendant. *Johnson v. State*, 816 So. 2d 436, 442 (¶28) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

One can draw several, reasonable inferences that the cocaine that was tested may not have been the same substance that the State purports was sold by Turner. First, Kirkley was not fully searched for the presence of narcotics prior to arriving at Turner's house. Second, Kirkley did not immediately return to Detective Traxler for a post-buy meeting after leaving Turner's house. Kirkley instead went back to the house of a known drug dealer to make a drug transaction. Finally, the sheriff's department did not monitor Kirkley during this undercover operation. Although Kirkley was equipped with audio and visual recording equipment, the sheriff's department could not simultaneously view the transactions so Kirkley was unsupervised during the alleged transactions.

*Failure to Fully Search Confidential Informant*

According to Detective Traxler's testimony, there were no drugs found on Kirkley's body or vehicle when Detective Traxler searched him during the pre-buy meeting. [T. 175] According to Kirkley's testimony, when he left Turner's house after the drug buy, he placed the drugs inside of his Marlboro cigarette box that was in his car.[T. 257] At trial, Detective Traxler admitted that he **did not** search the Marlboro cigarette box for the presence of drugs prior to Kirkley going to Turner's residence. [T. 201]

*Failure to Monitor Confidential Informant*

Detective Traxler was unable to hear audio feedback or see Kirkley through any video feedback during undercover operation. Detective Traxler acknowledged that Kirkley was "out there on his own." Kirkley admitted that once he left Cora Turner's residence, he went back to the Callahan/Turner residence. This was a known drug house and Kirkley went back to the house in hopes of securing another drug deal.

The video surveillance that was recorded by the confidential informant cut off abruptly once Kirkley arrived back at the Callahan/ Turner residence. At trial, Detective Traxler testified that he

deleted the rest of the video in order to make room for other drug buys. He stated that nothing else occurred in the video. This future raises questions about the reliability of the informant, as well as the detective. The detective simply failed to produce to a copy of the entire video to account for the time the confidential informant was away from the detective. The same confidential informant that was a former drug addict and who was completely unmonitored during his drug buys.

In reviewing challenges to the chain of custody, the Court considers whether there exists an indication of probable tampering with the evidence. *Nix v. State*, 276 So. 2d 652, 653 (Miss. 1973). Without any standard procedures governing the confidential informant controlled buys, there is strong indication that the drugs will be compromised.

In many cases, the police at least have some visual or audio contact with the informant throughout the transaction. See *Lee v. State*, 755 So. 2d 1096, 1098 (¶2) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (surveillance team listens to confidential informant's conversations through body wire); *Pratt v. State*, 870 So. 2d 1241, 1247 (¶17) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (law enforcement listened to confidential informant's drug sale over audio monitor).

The evidence presented at trial was not sufficient to prove that the cocaine positively tested by the Mississippi Crime Lab was the same substance that was allegedly bought from the defendant, Cora Turner.

**CONCLUSION**

The trial court erred in admitting the evidence of the cocaine because the State failed to sufficiently establish the chain of custody over the drugs. Turner was prejudiced by the trial court's abuse of discretion regarding this evidence. As a result, Turner's conviction is unjust and Turner respectfully requests that this Court grant a new trial.