IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CORA ANN TURNER

VS.

APPELLANT

FILED

JUL 2 8 2008

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals NO. 2007-KA-1539-SCT

Court of Appear

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

ROUN MCNEAL

ATTORNEY GENERAL LEGAL INTERN

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. NO BREAK OCCURRED IN THE CHAIN OF CUSTODY, NOR DID TURNER RAISE A REASONABLE INFERENCE OF PROBABLE TAMPERING OR SUBSTITUTION OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 15, 2005 Anthony Joseph Kirkley, a confidential informant for the Warren County Sheriff's Department, met with Detective Mike Traxler concerning the purchase of narcotics from Cora Ann Turner. T. 148. Kirkley was outfitted with an audio-visual recording device. T. 149. Traxler instructed Kirkley to attempt to purchase narcotics from Turner and members of her family. T. 151. Kirkley went to the home of Turner's mother to purchase narcotics from her brother, Will Callahan. T. 252. Later, he went to Turner's home nearby where he purchased \$50 worth of cocaine. T. 256. He returned briefly to the Callahan home to complete a deal with Will Callahan, but left when his dealer never showed up. T. 273. He then met Detective Traxler at the post-buy location and turned the drugs over to Traxler. T. 270. Detective Traxler preserved the video evidence of the transaction between Turner and Kirkley, but discarded the remaining video. T. 184. Traxler turned the cocaine into the sheriff's office evidence technician. T. 160. The cocaine was transported the state crime lab. T. 163. It was returned to evidence by Investigator Billy Joe Heggins on December 6 [T. 279], moved once while Traxler's buy box was being organized [T. 235], and finally checked out at 8:45 a.m. and 2:00 p.m. on the first day of the trial. T. 285.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State fully established the chain of custody of the cocaine through the testimony of Detective Traxler, Mr. Kirkley, and the investigators and evidence technicians of the Warren County Sheriff's Department. To prove her claim on appeal, Turner must show either a break in the chain of custody, or a reasonable inference of probable tampering or substitution of the evidence. Turner simply suggests that "the cocaine that was tested may not have been the same substance that the State purports was sold by Turner." Showing a mere possibility of tampering is insufficient to support her claim on appeal.

ARGUMENT

Before and during trial, Turner moved to suppress the evidence resulting from the transaction between Turner and Kirkley. At a pre-trial hearing, the trial court denied the motion, finding that the issue of chain of custody was a factual issue for the jury.

Reversing a conviction based on a chain of custody violation requires a finding that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the evidence in question. *Ellis v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1000, 1004 (Miss. 2006). "The test of whether there has been a break in the chain of custody of evidence is whether there is an indication or reasonable inference of probable tampering with the evidence or substitution of the evidence." *Id.* at 1005. The defendant has the burden of producing evidence that the chain of custody has been broken. *Id.* The State is not required to produce every witness who handled the evidence in question in order to establish the chain of custody. *Id.* (citing *Ormond v. State*, 599 So. 2d 951, 959 (Miss. 1992)).

Detective Traxler testified to Kirkley's intentions in visiting Turner's home, namely, to buy cocaine. T. 151. Kirkley's testimony was corroborated by video evidence. T. 256. After attempting another buy unsuccessfully, Kirkley turned the narcotics over to Traxler. T. 270. Turner asserts that one might infer that Kirkley already had the cocaine or that he purchased it after executing some innocent transaction with Turner. The inferences are based on the assertions that Traxler did not adequately search the confidential informant and that the video evidence available to the defendant cut off before Kirkley returned to the post-buy location.

Turner offers nothing more than inferences. This court has ruled that the State does not have to "thoroughly demonstrate" chain of custody. *Spann v. State*, 771 So. 2d 883, 894 (Miss. 2000). Additionally, showing a break in the chain of custody "requires more than mere possibilities." *Fulks v. State*, 944 So. 2d 79, 83 (Miss. App. 2006). In *Steen v. State*, the appellant argued that the chain

of custody could not be established because the video recorder had not conclusively recorded the exchange of the narcotics. 873 So. 2d 155, 158. There the testimony alone of a confidential informant who had "bad blood" with the defendant was enough to establish the chain of custody, and the appellant's assertions did not raise a reasonable inference of probable tampering or substitution of the evidence. *Id.* at 159.

Inferences which may be drawn from Turner's claim that Kirkley was not adequately searched are issues of fact which were properly resolved by the jury. Defense counsel was unable to offer any evidence that Kirkley had cocaine on him already, whereas the State provided video evidence that Turner handed Kirkley a substance that was later determined to be cocaine.

Turner has failed to offer any evidence showing a break in the chain of custody and nothing more than a "sneaking suspicion" of tampering or substitution of the evidence. "A mere suggestion that substitution could possibly have occurred does not meet the burden of showing probable substitution." *Ellis*, 934 So. 2d at 1006. Accordingly, her single assignment of error must fail.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Turner's conviction and sentence.